
PLAN COMMISSION 

  

 

Time and Date:  The Plan Commission met on Tuesday, November 17, 2015, at 5:00 p.m. in the 

Common Council Chambers of Wausau City Hall.   

 

Members Present: Mayor Tipple, Lindman, Gisselman, Atwell, Bohlken 

 

Others Present:  Lenz, DeSantis, Hebert, Jacobson, Higginbotham, Wood, Wanserski, Tasche, 

Hoelter, Tobalsky, Slater, Schwichtenberg, Donovan 

 

In compliance with Chapter 19, Wisconsin Statutes, notice of this meeting was posted and transmitted to 

the Wausau Daily Herald in the proper manner. 

 

Mayor Tipple called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. noting that a quorum was present. 

 
Approve the minutes of the October 20, 2015 meeting.       
 
Atwell motioned to approve the minutes of the October 20, 2015 meeting.  Gisselman seconded, and the 
motion carried unanimously 5-0. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Discussion and possible action on establishing the zoning as M2, General 
Industrial District for the area recently annexed into the City of Wausau south of 917 South 60

th
 

Avenue (Eau Claire River LLC.) 
 

Dan Higginbotham, representing PGA, said this land was purchased by their company.  He said 23 acres 

of the total 100 acres was located in the city and the remaining portion was in the Town of Stettin.  He 

said the subject land was located in the Town of Stettin and was annexed to the City of Wausau.  

Higginbotham said he would like to see M2 zoning since he would like to incorporate the same use as the 

rest of the property.  A DNR Stormwater Management Plan is on file, with two detention basins designed.  

Higginbotham said they are looking to zone the property to the highest and best use.   

 

Mayor Tipple closed the public hearing. 

 

Lenz said that the applicant is technically the City; according to the ordinance, Plan Commission needs to 

file the zoning if default zoning R1 is not wanted.  The property owners would like M2 zoning.  The 

zoning map shows that this property is adjacent to M2 zoning.  Staff feels that this zoning would be 

appropriate.  The site is not accessible due to railroad crossings and geography.  He said it would become 

part of the larger development to the north. 

 

Bohlken motioned to establish the zoning as M2, General Industrial District for the area recently annexed 

into the City of Wausau south of 917 South 60
th
 Avenue.  Gisselman seconded, and the motion carried 

unanimously 5-0.  This item will go to Common Council on December 8, 2015. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING: Discussion and possible action on amending the General Development Plan at 
2130, 2121, 2201, 2221, 2301 and 2305 Northwestern Avenue by adding 2221, 2301 and 2305 to the 
General Development Plan allowing for a total of 120 multifamily residential units. 
 
Dan Higginbotham, 156 Kent Street, NWA Holdings LLC purchased this property 2 ½ years ago from the 
Meuret family.  Higginbotham gave a brief ownership history of the property.    An easement was given 
to Camp Sturtevant in exchange for joint crossing at the railroad crossing.  All the land north of 
Northwestern Avenue was sold to Dave Wanserski.  Higginbotham said he came to this commission 
about 1 ½ years ago and the general development plan was approved.  Part of the overall development of 
the area is to have hiking, biking, and access trails in conjunction with the Parks Department and Eau 
Claire River Conservancy.  The Mountain Bay Trail will be connected to the City of Wausau.   
 
Tom Wood, Harris and Associates, representing Premier Real Estate Management, who is under contract 
to purchase the 2-phase project.  There will be a total of 120 units total; the first phase will have 60 units.  
The 2

nd
 phase may occur in approximately 2 years.  Sewer and water will be located throughout the 

property.  There will be 2 access points from Northwestern Avenue.  The buildings will be a 2 story, 2 
bedroom units.  There will be 12 units per building.  Wood showed the commission a picture of what the 



Plan Commission 

November 17, 2015 — Page 2 

 
buildings would look like.  Each unit would have a private entry through the garage and an exterior 
entrance; there will not be a common hallway.  There will be lighting throughout the property but it will 
not spray onto the neighboring properties.  Grading and stormwater plans have been submitted.  A 
detention basin is planned for the southeast corner and will be sized for both developments.     
 
Dave Wanserski, 2225 Hawthorne Lane, said he do doesn’t have much comment and is not opposing the 
development.  Wanserski said he is concerned about the site preparation and wants to make sure it is not a 
mining process.  The site preparation should be done to complement the landscaping and material should 
not be removed to negatively affect the neighboring properties. 
 
Bonnie Tasche, 2172 Meadow Brook Way, said she is concerned about the traffic that would make the 
Gold Ridge Way intersection even more dangerous.  The speed limit could be reduced, but this wouldn’t 
help because nobody goes the speed limit.  Vehicles are traveling at 50 mph.  There is no visibility to the 
left because of some brush and a dirt hill.  Tasche asked if some of the hill could be scraped off by the 
developer or the City.  Tasche said right now they look for traffic, roll down windows to listen for traffic, 
and when it appears it is clear continue onto Northwestern Avenue and before you know it someone is in 
your trunk.  It is very dangerous.  A sign could be posted noting limited site, but it wouldn’t do any good 
because the signs wouldn’t be read after people get used to them.  Since the development is going to be 
visible by roof top, they will not see the apartment buildings; a lot of rock will need to be dug out.  
Tasche asked what kind of blasting will be done to remove the rock and asked if a concrete or steel barrier 
could be placed so roof tops would not be damaged if a speeder comes over the hill and over the earth 
berm.  Tasche said the hydrants are flushed out frequently, every couple of weeks, and the water pressure 
is so low and asked how the city will deal with this with additional occupants. 
 
Joel Hoelter, 2119 Meadow Brook Way, thanked the city and commission for the notifications and for 
cleaning up the neighborhood recently.  Hoelter told the commission about the about the items that are 
left in this area of the city and at times feel like the ugly stepchildren of the city.  Hoelter said he would 
like to second the comments that were already made.  The traffic issue is a huge concern on Northwestern 
Avenue.  The speed limit is posted at 35 mph with a double yellow line; Hoelter said he constantly gets 
passed.  Adding more traffic will make it worse.  Hoelter said he is hesitant to say anything because he 
feels it is already a done deal.  The property is already marked out with pink and red plastic and a piece of 
heavy equipment is already parked there.  Hoelter said he has a concern with the wetland and said he 
spoke to DNR, zoning, and Army Core of Engineers and found out that action is only taken if something 
gets into the wetlands.  The detention pond is right at the edge of the wetlands.  The proper permit has 
been taken out to remove some lands.  Hoelter said the property values will be affected and will affect the 
tax revenue.  Hoelter asked the commission if they knew how many rental units are in the city and said he 
contacted the city hall last week and was told there are 6,800 rental units.  Hoelter said that he is 
extremely opposed and hope the commission and City Council listen to the people on this item. 
 
Jack Tobalsky, 2136 Meadow Brook Way, said the Brookdale Subdivision is near the property he owns.  
Tobalsky said the first request was to rezone from R1 to M1, but was amended to UDD zoning.  The 
current plan is for transitional housing for 120 families in a relatively small area and only 1 access road 
being Northwestern Avenue.  Northwestern Avenue is a two-lane windy and hilly road that does not seem 
safe or appropriate.  We asked that a transitional area consisting of duplexes should exist here, at a 
minimum.  The duplexes are now gone from the plan.  At a meeting at Greenwood Hills, it was said that 
these apartments would rent for $900.00/month.  These will have a 1-car garage and next to a railroad 
staging area, Tobalsky said good luck with that.  This apartment complex will create a great deal of 
turnover and will put the aesthetics and property values of this neighborhood at risk of being lost.  
Tobalsky said he thought the single-family proposal in the original plan would never be developed and 
the property was just sold.  Tobalsky asked the commission not to let short sightedness destroy what 
could be one of the most beautiful, single family development areas left in the city.  There are views of 
Rib Mountain and Eau Claire River basin and it’s enhanced by the land conservancy and treasured by 
those that live there.  Homes in the area were bought because of the bike route, trucks not being allowed, 
beauty of the area, and various camps and would love to share the beauty with other single-family 
residents.  It is for these reasons that he wishes to express his opposition in rezoning and authorizing the 
plan.  This property should be zoned as single family. 
 
Chris Slater, President of Development for Premier Real Estate Management, working with Tom Wood 



Plan Commission 

November 17, 2015 — Page 3 

 
and Dan Higginbotham.  Slater said that they have successfully worked with Wausau in the past with the 
Bos Creek development and Grand Avenue Apartments.  Slater said they work collectively with various 
municipalities.  There has been a huge demographic push of more people wanting to rent due to the sins 
of the past.  When the buildings are turned over, one building is done each month and is preleased.  There 
has been much success with doing business this way.  Slater said they want to further invest in Wausau, 
and he knows they can be successful; additional tax base will be added with this project.  His company 
manages and operates 8,000 units in 9 states. 
 
Donna Schwichtenberg, 1920 Brook View Court, said they are greatly affected by this change and she 
wants to support the neighbors.  The primary concern is traffic.  If there are 120 units, with 2 bedrooms 
per unit, that would be 240 vehicles per day.  This will create too much traffic.  The second question or 
concern is that the city has been actively working on the riverfront development and asked if there may be 
a problem with these two apartment complexes and if they would compete.  Schwichtenberg asked how 
more rental properties are needed.  The riverfront area should be developed before this does.  The 
proposal keeps changing.  During the meeting last week, it was said that they were all 2-bedroom units.  
After looking at the plans, some of the units were 1-bedroom units and the response was ‘oh, you caught 
us.’  Schwichtenberg said they don’t know what they are really going to do.  The developer should do it 
right and the neighbors do not know what to believe. 
 
Tasche asked if someone was available from the fire department because there were some issues at a 
previous meeting.  Mayor Tipple said that a representative from the fire department is present. 
 
Mayor Tipple closed the public hearing. 
 
Lenz said there are two agenda items for this project.  The first item is for the general development plan.  
The general development plan approved previously was much larger – there was a mix of units, and land 
that was not included in the original plan has since been annexed into the city.  This item would be to 
bring the annexed portion into the plan, look at the density, and look at the mix of apartments.  Duplexes 
were previously proposed and now they are all 12-unit buildings.  Based on the information submitted to 
the City, all the units will be 2-bedroom units.  A condition of the previous approval was to notify the 
neighborhood of any plan changes, which was done.   
 
Lenz said the second item would be to consider the precise implementation plan.  Both items would need 
to be approved in order for the project to move forward.  Lenz said staff felt that the general development 
plan needed to be amended due to a change of mix and density.  The precise implementation plan 
information in the packet is everything staff has received.  From the staff report, he said the following 
items should still be reviewed, either by staff or the commission: grading plan, landscaping plan tied to 
grading, a schedule for excavation and earthwork, development agreements for utility work, building 
elevations, and trail connections.  Lenz said that this should be provided and can be reviewed prior to 
sending to the Common Council.  The petitioners would like to move forward, but he feels some of the 
details are on the light side. 
 
Lindman said that he is not able to answer the question on the existing water pressure issues, but will 
review it.  Lindman said that he would also look at the visibility issues on Northwestern Ave. 
 
DeSantis said he would like to get confirmation on hydrant location and water supply on pressure on 
volume.  DeSantis said he has a concern if the access road will be marked for fire lane and if the first half 
of the development will have both exits and entrances.  A turn around will need to be provided if both 
entrances and exits are not completed with the first half of the development.  Wood said that they still 
need data for the fire flows.  It is the plan to have both roads right off the bat.   
 
Gisselman said that would be more a concern for the precise implementation plan.  Mayor Tipple 
confirmed this.  Gisselman said that he opposed this earlier.  If Phase I is approved, he feels that we 
would have to go along with Phase II.  Northwestern Avenue is not meant for this level of development 
and he has issues with this type of population.  Gisselman said that there have been 5” rains and this is a 
steep slope.  Lindman said the stormwater plan will come through the city before the development can 
proceed and it will need to meet the DNR requirements.  Lindman asked if a full blown design has been 
done.  Wood said that pond has been designed to handle a 100-year storm event, but restrict it to a 10-year 



Plan Commission 

November 17, 2015 — Page 4 

 
storm.  The water in the pond will be restricted for a certain time.  A notice of intent will be needed from 
the DNR.  The pond will need to be outside the wetland and will need to be buffered.  The stormwater 
plan will also need to be reviewed by the DNR and City staff. 
 
Atwell said he does not know the specific area and said the genuine issues should be answered.  There 
should be some traffic information and other information about the bullet points on the staff report.  
Atwell said that at this time he is not comfortable approving the plan.  The task of the commission is to 
review a proposed development and see if it fits within the regulations and safety, not if it is a good 
financial investment for the developer. 
 
Lenz said that according to DOT traffic counts, there are about 3,000 cars per day on Northwestern 
Avenue.  This is well below the threshold where we would consider increasing capacity; this is not to say 
that improvements to the existing road shouldn’t be made. 
 
Bohlken motioned to amend the General Development Plan at 2130, 2121, 2201, 2221, 2301 and 2305 
Northwestern Avenue by adding 2221, 2301 and 2305 to the General Development Plan allowing for a 
total of 120 multifamily residential units.  Atwell seconded, and the motion carried 4-1.  This item will go 
to Common Council on December 8, 2015.  Gisselman was the dissenting vote. 
 
Discussion and possible action on approving the Precise Implementation Plan for 2201, 2221 and 
2305 Northwestern Avenue to allow for Phase I of the multifamily residential development (60 
units). 
  

Bohlken motioned to approve the Precise Implementation Plan for 2201, 2221 and 2305 Northwestern 

Avenue to allow for Phase I of the multifamily residential development.  Gisselman seconded. 

 

The commission discussed if this should go to Common Council or come back to the commission in the 

future after more information is submitted.  The motion and second were withdrawn. 

 

Atwell motioned to table this item until more information is submitted to staff.  Gisselman seconded and 

the motion carried 4-1.  Gisselman was the dissenting vote. 
 
Discussion and possible action on amending the General Development Plan and approving the 
Precise Implementation Plan at 1550 Westwood Drive to allow for a development of 80 multifamily 
residential units. 
 
Lenz said that this project received general development plan approval.  The plans have changed due to 
the discovery of additional wetlands.  The new proposal is in the packet and would have 80 units, split 
between 8-unit and 4-unit buildings.  There are some decisions to be made on stormwater management 
and utility expansion.  Staff feels the project should move forward with the conditions that staff approve 
the stormwater plans and the City executes a developer agreement for the utilities. 
 
John Donovan, S.C. Swiderski, said the plan has been reduced to 80 units because it was found that there 
are about 6.5 acres of wetlands.  The plan is similar to the previous.  The 4-unit buildings have been 
moved a bit.  There will be attached garages with private entrances.  The general plan was approved in 
May.  On the landscape plan, the darker area will be grass and the lighter area will be seeded, but left 
natural.  The lighter green area is where the sewer connections will be made. 
 
DeSantis said that he has some concerns of getting in between the 8-unit buildings and backing out.  The 
loop design would work fine.  DeSantis asked for specs.  Donovan said a cul-de-sac was part of the 
original plan.  DeSantis said he will get contact information afterward.  Donovan said they are looking at 
having internal utilities.   
 
Hebert asked Donovan if the trail will be paved.  Donovan said it will be hard-surfaced, not sure if it will 
be asphalt or concrete though.  Hebert asked if a plan would be provided for parking lot lighting.  
Donovan said it is part of the landscaping plan.  Lighting will be located in the dumpster area, on all 
garages, and all doorways.  



Plan Commission 

November 17, 2015 — Page 5 

 
 
Mayor Tipple asked DeSantis if he had any major red flags that would prevent this from proceeding.  
DeSantis said he did not.   
 
Lindman asked if the city should maintain the utilities.  Donovan said as of right now, it is submitted as 
private use utilities.  It can be discussed.  Lindman said he gets concerned with flushing and valve turning 
and DNR requirements.   
 
Bohlken motioned to amend the General Development Plan and approve the Precise Implementation Plan 
at 1550 Westwood Drive to allow for a development of 80 multifamily residential units with condition 
that stormwater plans be approved by staff and that a developer agreement is signed for the utilities.  
Gisselman seconded, and the motion carried unanimously 5-0.  This will go to Common Council on 
December 8. 
 
Donovan asked if both items were approved.  Mayor Tipple answered yes. 
 
Discussion and possible action on amending the General Development Plan and approving the 
Precise Implementation Plan at 1901 North 10

th
 Avenue to allow for an addition of 2 garage units 

and a small office building. 
 
Lenz said that this item is for the Bos Creek Estates and is a proposal for an office building and two 
detached garages.  All these buildings would be used for residents and operations of the complex.  It will 
be internal to the site and not visible from city streets.  Staff recommends approval as presented. 
 
Gisselman motioned to amend the General Development Plan and approving the Precise Implementation 
Plan at 1901 North 10

th
 Avenue to allow for an addition of 20 garage units and a small office building.  

Atwell seconded.  The motion passed unanimously 5-0.  It will go to Common Council on December 8, 
2015. 
 
Discussion and possible action on the 2015 MPO Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan.    
 
Lenz said that the MPO has been undertaking an update to the Bicycle and Pedestiran Plan.  The City 
adopted the first plan in 2009.  CISM and Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee have 
recommended adoption of the plan, as well as the MPO.  Lenz said this is a well-rounded comprehensive 
plan.  Lenz highlighted some of the key points of the plan and the differences from the last plan.  The City 
does have plenty high-stress streets.  The plan makes recommendations on ways to improve streets.  The 
plan is not a cost commitment.  The City should be excited about this plan. 
 
Atwell asked if it is proposed removing sharrows and replacing it with lanes, like Grand Avenue.  They 
are invitations to get hit by a vehicle.  Lenz said it isn’t a commitment, but will be looked at during 
reconstruction.  Atwell said there isn’t a place for how to fund.  Lindman said that they will review the 
plan when looking at reconstructing streets. 
 
Atwell motioned to approve the 2015 MPO Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan.  Bohlken seconded, and the 
motion carried unanimously 5-0.  This item will go to Common Council on December 8, 2015. 
 
Discuss sign zoning regulations and authorize a public hearing for potential zoning text changes.  
 
Lenz said that in talks with the attorney’s office, there have been recent court cases affecting the way 
cities should regulate signs.  Ordinances should be reviewed in light of these cases.  Any sign zoning 
regulations that are content-based should be looked at.  Instead of regulating content, the signs should be 
regulated based on size, location, and physical features in order to avoid potential problems.  A public 
hearing is required for text amendments to the zoning code.  Staff would provide the committee with the 
actual text changes when the public hearing is scheduled.   
 
Atwell motion to authorize a public hearing for potential zoning text changes.  Bohlken seconded. 
 
Bohlken asked if there have been any issues with signs regarding their content.  Jacobson said that 



Plan Commission 

November 17, 2015 — Page 6 

 
political signs are allowed in residential areas, but not in commercial areas.  Most of the issues are from 
political signs.  It would be nice to have the political sign portion of the ordinance resolved prior to the 
next political season.  Bohlken asked if there are any other sign issues.  Hebert said that downtown zoning 
has content regulation.  This is becoming more of a battle.  It is a monumental task.  Every community in 
the nation is struggling with this. 
 
Atwell asked if sign clutter could be a reason.  Jacobson and the commission discussed the Lamar 
signage.  Atwell said the only way to control content would be to control the size.  Hebert said that one of 
the items still allowed is on premise vs. off premise. 
 
Gisselman said this first round would be for yard signs.  Hebert said yes, political signs would need to be 
permitted on commercial property, but will not be allowed on public right-of-way.  Jacobson said that 
right now an authorization for a public hearing is needed. 
 
The motion carried unanimously 5-0.   
 
Discussion and possible action on petition to vacate the alley abutting 215 East Thomas Street west 
to Emter Street.            
 
Lenz said that this item originated in CISM.  A public hearing was held last week with quite a bit of 
discussion.  There was some confusion as some homeowners signed the petition, but then spoke against it 
at the hearing. The homeowners that objected to the petition were located east of the proposed alley 
vacation.  The property owner closest to the proposal would not be able to exit onto the alley due to a 
telephone pole.  Other property owners were concerned that they would not be able to access their back 
yards.  Police and fire would not be able to go down the alley because they would not be able to turn 
around anywhere.  The petitioner was in favor due to a parking lot and cars moving through the alley 
could cause a safety hazard.  CISM voted against the petition.  Plan Commission doesn’t hold a public 
hearing, but the commission takes action. 
 
Bohlken motioned to vacate the alley abutting 215 East Thomas Street west to Emter Street.  Gisselman 
seconded. 
 
Gisselman said that as a member of CISM, he voted against the item.  There would be an undue burden 
and would create issues.  Several homeowners use the alleyway to get to their garages.  Gisselman said he 
will continue to oppose the petition and asked the commission to oppose this vacation. 
 
The motion failed unanimously 0-5.  This item will go to Common Council on November 24, 2015. 
 
Discussion and possible action on petition to vacate a portion of the alley bounded by Prospect 
Avenue, Genrich Street, Dunbar Street, and Single Avenue.       
 
Lenz said that this item also came from CISM.  There was no opposition to this item.  A colored photo in 
the packet shows that it is not an improved alley and there is a curb on Prospect Avenue so that it cannot 
be easily entered.  This has been treated as private property.  A tot lot would be constructed at this 
location.  CISM approved the petition unanimously. 
 
Mayor Tipple said the neighborhood group has been asking for a tot lot for many years and it would be 
good for the area. 
 
Bohlken motioned to approve the petition to vacate a portion of the alley bounded by Prospect Avenue, 
Genrich Street, Dunbar Street, and Single Avenue.  Atwell seconded, and the motion carried unanimously 
5-0.  This item will go to Common Council on November 24, 2015. 
 
Discussion and possible action on petition to vacate a portion of 80

th
 Avenue.     

 
Lenz said that the former 80

th
 Avenue is shown on the cross-hatched area.  This area was reconstructed 

and will be turned over to the private property owners and will be used as a driveway.  The first step is to 
vacate the portion of 80

th
 Avenue. 



Plan Commission 

November 17, 2015 — Page 7 

 
 
Atwell motioned to approve the petition to vacate a portion of 80

th
 Avenue.  Gisselman seconded, and the 

motion carried unanimously 5-0.  This item will go to Common Council on November 24, 2015. 
 
Next meeting date and future agenda items for consideration. 
 

The next meeting is scheduled for December 15, 2015.  Lenz said that a meeting will be held on 

November 18 at 5:30 p.m. at the Dudley Tower for a session on the comprehensive plan.  A presentation 

for the way-finding plan will be held at the Economic Development Committee on November 19 at 4:30 

p.m. 

 
Adjourn.             
 

Gisselman motioned to adjourn.  Bohlken seconded, and the motion carried unanimously 5-0.  The 

meeting adjourned at 6:45 p.m. 
 
 
 


